Earth Negotiations Bulletin
A Reporting Service for Environment and Development Negotiations
Online at http://www.iisd.ca/biodiv/cop7/

Vol. 9 No. 283  Published by the International Institute for Sustainable Development (1ISD)

Friday, 20 February 2004

CBD COP-7 HIGHLIGHTS:
THURSDAY, 19 FEBRUARY 2004

COP-7 delegates met in morning, afternoon and evening
sessions. Working Group I (WG-I) continued discussing confer-
ence room papers (CRPs) on sustainable use, invasive alien
species (IAS), inland water ecosystems, mountain biodiversity,
protected areas (PAs), marine and coastal biodiversity, and the
Strategic Plan. Working Group II (WG-II) addressed CRPs on:
technology transfer and cooperation; communication, education
and public awareness (CEPA); operations of the Convention;
Article 8(j) (traditional knowledge); access and benefit-sharing
(ABS); financial resources and mechanism; cooperation with
other conventions; and incentive measures. Parties convened in a
brief afternoon Plenary and established a Friends of the President
group to address outstanding issues. The Ministerial Segment
continued discussing ABS, technology transfer and cooperation,
and scientific assessments, and adopted the Kuala Lumpur Decla-
ration.

WORKING GROUP 1

SUSTAINABLE USE: ARGENTINA opposed text
requesting SBSTTA to address agricultural biodiversity before
COP-8. Delegates agreed that SBSTTA address the issue before
COP-9. Noting budgetary implications, Ireland, for the EU and
Acceding Countries (EU), suggested deleting text on technical
experts workshops for assessments of ecosystem services. The
RUSSIAN FEDERATION and CANADA opposed. WG-I Chair
Hans Hoogeveen (the Netherlands) pointed out that such work-
shops will be financed through voluntary funds, and the EU
agreed, provided that reference be made to the Strategic Plan.
Delegates approved the decision as amended.

IAS: CANADA agreed to delete reference to developing
options to address gaps and inconsistencies within the context of
international frameworks, or at the national level. Delegates
approved language on taking into consideration the risks associ-
ated with the introduction, use and spread of IAS during the devel-
opment, expansion and environmental review of arrangements,
such as trade arrangements.

On introducing non-trade distorting positive incentive
measures for the eradication or control of IAS and the use of native
species, delegates agreed to reference the trade-related paragraph
of the chapeau that would result from informal consultations. The
decision was approved as amended.

INLAND WATER ECOSYSTEMS: NEW ZEALAND
approved references to the Akwé: Kon guidelines on impact
assessments. Delegates agreed that a reference to ecological
networks and connectivity for inland water PAs use language from
the PA work programme. Parties debated and agreed that environ-
mental impact assessments (EIAs) include socioeconomic assess-

ments, and approved language on strengthening efforts to apply
EIAs not only to individual projects, taking into account effects of
existing and proposed developments.

MOUNTAIN BIODIVERSITY: Regarding references to
international trade and trade-distorting activities, WG-I Chair
Hoogeveen proposed text based on WSSD language. A Friends of
the Chair group was established to consider the proposal. In the
afternoon, WG-I Chair Hoogeveen noted the group’s lack of
progress and, supported by many, suggested deleting references to
international trade and trade-distorting measures.

ARGENTINA and VENEZUELA said the work programme
should not be interpreted as supporting agricultural subsidies.
They requested a footnote noting ongoing negotiations on agricul-
tural subsidies in other fora, should the text be kept. In the evening,
BRAZIL announced its willingness to delete references to trade-
distorting measures in the inland waters work programme, but a
decision on whether this would apply to all relevant work
programmes was postponed.

PAs: Delegates considered a CRP agreed upon by the PA
contact group.

Paragraphs on establishing a working group to review imple-
mentation of the work programme and on assessment periods of its
implementation were left open, pending adoption of the decisions
on the Strategic Plan and the multi-year programme of work
(MYPOW). Delegates agreed to delete paragraphs on, inter alia:
estimating the cost of necessary activities to meet the targets of the
work programme; and performing gap analyses and effectiveness
assessments.

MARINE AND COASTAL BIODIVERSITY: The Secre-
tariat introduced a revised CRP, drafted by a Friends of the Chair
group. Text on coastal States’ consent to establish marine and
coastal PAs, which cross boundaries, was left pending. Regarding
the work programme, ARGENTINA requested addressing
bycatch. Delegates discussed, but did not reach agreement, on
paragraphs regarding bioprospecting, and enhancing biodiversity
conservation and sustainable use in marine areas beyond national
jurisdiction. Delegates approved, without amendment, a coral
bleaching work plan to be appended to the work programme.

STRATEGIC PLAN: Delegates considered a CRP on the
Strategic Plan agreed upon by the contact group, including a draft
decision and annexes. Bracketed text was left pending until rele-
vant decisions are made under other agenda items. NEW
ZEALAND raised concern over the consistency of several activi-
ties with MYPOW. CANADA, supported by BRAZIL, proposed
language regarding convening an intersessional Working Group to
review implementation of the Convention and progress towards
the 2010 target. NEW ZEALAND and the SEYCHELLES favored
convening intersessional meetings. Noting budgetary constraints,
the EU, supported by the AFRICAN GROUP, opposed estab-
lishing a Working Group. This matter was referred to a Friends of
the President group following the evening Plenary.

This issue of the Earth Negotiations Bulletin © <enb@iisd.org> is written and edited by Nienke Beintema <nienke@jiisd.org>; Stefan Jungcurt <stefan@iisd.org>;
Dagmar Lohan, Ph.D. <dagmar@iisd.org>; Charlotte Salpin <charlotte@iisd.org>; Nicole Schabus <nicole@iisd.org>; and Elsa Tsioumani <elsa@iisd.org>. The Digital
Editor is Franz Dejon <franz@jiisd.org>. The Editor is Pamela S. Chasek, Ph.D. <pam@jisd.org> and the Director of IISD Reporting Services is Langston James "Kimo"
Goree VI <kimo@iisd.org>. The Sustaining Donors of the Bulletin are the Government of the United States of America (through the Department of State Bureau of Oceans
and International Environmental and Scientific Affairs), the Government of Canada (through CIDA), the Swiss Agency for Environment, Forests and Landscape
(SAEFL), the United Kingdom (through the Department for International Development - DFID), the Danish Ministry of Foreign Affairs, and the Government of Germany
(through the German Federal Ministry of Environment - BMU, and the German Federal Ministry of Development Cooperation - BMZ). General Support for the Bulletin
during 2004 is provided by the United Nations Environment Programme (UNEP), the Government of Australia, Austrian Federal Ministry of Agriculture, Forestry,
Environment and Water Management, the Ministry of Environment and the Ministry of Foreign Affairs of Sweden, the Ministry of Foreign Affairs of Norway, Swan
International, the Japanese Ministry of Environment (through the Institute for Global Environmental Strategies - IGES) and the Japanese Ministry of Economy, Trade and
Industry (through the Global Industrial and Social Progress Research Institute - GISPRI). Specific funding for coverage of COP-7 has been provided by UK DFID and the
New Zealand Ministry of Foreign Affairs and Trade. Funding for translation of the Earth Negotiations Bulletin in French has been provided by the International
Organization of the Francophonie (IOF) and the French Ministry of Foreign Affairs. The opinions expressed in the Earth Negotiations Bulletin are those of the authors and
do not necessarily reflect the views of IISD or other donors. Excerpts from the Earth Negotiations Bulletin may be used in non-commercial publications with appropriate
academic citation. For information on the Bulletin, including requests to provide reporting services, contact the Director of IISD Reporting Services at <kimo@jiisd.org>,
+1-212-644-0217 or 212 East 47th St. #21F, New York, NY 10017, USA. The ENB team can be reached in Kuala Lumpur at our offices in the Exhibition Space and by
phone at +60 (0)3 2629334.



http://www.iisd.ca/biodiv/cop7/

,"‘ v

Friday, 20 February 2004

\ Earth Negotiations Bulletin

Vol. 9 No. 283 Page 2

The annex on global outcome-oriented targets for the work
programmes on inland waters and marine and coastal biodiversity
was left open, pending a decision on other relevant agenda items. In
the evening session, the EU, supported by NORWAY and
CANADA, requested that the outcome-oriented goals and targets
regarding the inland water ecosystem and marine and coastal biodi-
versity work programmes be referred to SBSTTA, and thus
excluded from the respective draft decisions. Delegates approved
the decision.

WORKING GROUP I1

TECHNOLOGY TRANSFER: CANADA presented
language agreed upon by a Friends of the Chair group on:
convening the Clearing-house Mechanism’s (CHM) informal advi-
sory committee to assist the Executive Secretary, including through
electronic consultation and long-distance communication; and an
expert group on technology transfer to assist the Executive Secre-
tary, including through meeting in conjunction with the CHM
committee. On creating enabling environments, consensus was
achieved in a Friends of the Chair group to delete language on
government activities consistent with countries’ development
levels. The revised CRP was approved as amended.

CEPA: ANTIGUA AND BARBUDA and NORWAY
supported creating a CEPA post in the Secretariat. The EU
opposed, unless funded by voluntary contributions. Delegates
agreed to request the Executive Secretary to allocate a post, invite
voluntary contributions, and convene an informal advisory
committee to meet during SBSTTA and COP sessions. The revised
CRP was approved as amended.

OPERATIONS OF THE CONVENTION: Review and
consolidation of COP decisions: Delegates adopted a CRP with
minor revisions.

Rules of Procedure: Delegates deleted a paragraph extending
the term of office of the COP President. Egypt, for the AFRICAN
GROUP, proposed adding a request to the Executive Secretary to
make arrangements for regional preparatory meetings prior to
COP-8. Delegates agreed to a proposal by COLOMBIA on the
review of mechanisms for prioritization, and by BRAZIL on
reviewing the periodicity of COP meetings. Delegates agreed to
remove a reference to the availability of financial resources in text
on regional preparatory meetings, and adopted the CRP as
amended.

ARTICLE 8(j): The Secretariat proposed adding a reference to
convene future meetings of the Article 8(j) Working Group, with
CANADA requesting that they be funded from the core budget.
NORWAY suggested holding one regular meeting, and considering
an additional session for ABS-related matters. Delegates agreed to
request “at least one” meeting prior to COP-8. The EU requested
bracketing the reference to the meeting, pending budget negotia-
tions. The issue was referred to the Friends of the President group.

ABS: Mexico, on behalf of the LIKE-MINDED MEGA -
DIVERSE COUNTRIES (LMMC), opposed subjecting the ABS
Working Group meetings to budgetary considerations.

The LMMC suggested holding three intersessional meetings
before COP-8. CANADA, AUSTRALIA and NEW ZEALAND
suggested one meeting. As a compromise, SWITZERLAND,
supported by ARGENTINA, suggested two meetings and a clear
recommendation to the budget group, while CANADA proposed
holding “at least one” meeting. WG-II Chair Desh Deepak Verma
(India) said one meeting could be funded from the core budget and
another from the voluntary fund. CHINA, CANADA and the
LMMC agreed. The EU reserved its position until the completion
of WG-I deliberations. The issue was referred to the Friends of the
President group.

Delegates resolved bracketed references on cooperation with
WIPO by adding language on cooperation with UNCTAD.

COOPERATION WITH OTHER CONVENTIONS: Dele-
gates added language requesting CBD observer status in relevant
WTO bodies. Following discussions, they agreed to refer to the
“leading role” of UNEP on environmental issues. Regarding a flex-

ible framework for cooperation between all actors, such as a global
partnership on biodiversity, delegates agreed to request the Execu-
tive Secretary to examine possible ways forward.

INCENTIVE MEASURES: ARGENTINA, BRAZIL and
URUGUAY requested a reference instructing SBSTTA to assess
cases of mitigation of perverse incentives. ARGENTINA refused
to negotiate positive incentives in the absence of agreement on
perverse incentives. Delegates consulted informally on the
annexed draft proposals for ways to mitigate perverse incentives.
ARGENTINA and BRAZIL agreed to adopt them in draft form if
considered by SBSTTA-10. The EU proposed adopting the
proposals on an interim basis, and requested their review by
SBSTTA before COP-9. ARGENTINA rejected policies of devel-
oped countries that distort trade, and objected to the proposals’
adoption. Delegates agreed to adopt the proposals as a draft for
consideration by SBSTTA-10. References to positive incentives in
the decision remain bracketed.

MINISTERIAL SEGMENT

COP-7 President Dato’ Seri Law, Malaysia’s Minister of
Science, Technology and the Environment, called on Ministers to
accept the draft Kuala Lumpur Declaration without amendments.

Many Ministers emphasized the need to integrate the CBD’s
objectives into poverty reduction strategies. Ministers expressed
support for an international ABS regime, highlighting the need for
awareness raising , and requesting meaningful participation of
developing countries and indigenous peoples. Several said the ABS
regime should be based on existing international instruments.
Ministers stressed the need to adapt technologies to national and
local circumstances. One Minister expressed regret regarding the
lack of political will to mobilize financial resources. Ministers
emphasized the importance of scientific assessments in developing
the baselines, goals and indicators to assess progress towards the
2010 target. One country stressed that lack of scientific knowledge
should not be used as a reason to postpone action. Many Ministers
supported PA networks, calling for a Working Group to implement
an effective PA work programme.

The Kuala Lumpur Declaration was adopted by acclamation
with the addition of language on PAs.

PLENARY

In an afternoon Plenary, delegates heard progress reports from
the two WGs and the contact group on the budget. They elected
Antonio Matamoros (Ecuador) as GRULAC’s second Bureau
member, and formed a Friends of the President group to discuss
establishing intersessional Working Groups, and address
outstanding issues.

IN THE CORRIDORS

On the eve of COP-7’s closing Plenary, delegates were still
resolutely drafting language in numerous informal consultations on
outstanding issues regarding the establishment of intersessional
working groups, trade-related references, and the status of decision
VI/23 on IAS.

Several delegates were getting increasingly impatient about the
never ending back-and-forth of decisions between the working
groups and the budget contact group. They remarked that it is the
working groups’ task to take policy decisions and agree on their
prioritization.

One delegate expressed hope that the baby steps achieved so far
would bring about a big leap forward at the closure of the meeting,
providing the necessary impetus for the upcoming Biosafety
COP/MOP-1.

THINGS TO LOOK FOR TODAY

WORKING GROUPS: The two WGs will meet at 10:00 am
to discuss outstanding issues.

PLENARY: The closing Plenary will meet in the Dewan
Merdeka Hall to adopt the meeting’s decisions, at a time to be
announced.



